THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Martha Rivers, Circuit Court Judge

---

Lower Court Case Nos.  
2024-GS-32-00867 and 2024-GS-32-02893

---

The State, Respondent,

v.

Michael Anthony Dolan, Jr., Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2025-001053

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Adam Sinclair Ruffin  
SC Bar No. 101350  
1320 Main Street, Suite 300  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 470-5629  
adam@ruffinappeals.com

Attorney for Michael Dolan

**RECEIVED**

**Dec 10 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred in denying Mr. Dolan's request for a pretrial hearing pursuant to *Franks v. Delaware* where Mr. Dolan adequately alleged Agent Gray's reckless disregard for the truth and lack of probable cause without the tainted information?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a jury verdict finding Michael Dolan guilty of trafficking methamphetamine and possession with the intent to distribute marijuana and the trial judge's imposition of a sentence of twenty-eight years imprisonment for the trafficking and five-years imprisonment for the PWID.

Mr. Dolan was indicted by the Lexington County Grand Jury for trafficking methamphetamine and possession with the intent to distribute marijuana. His trial was held before the Honorable Martha Rivers and a jury from February 24 – 27, 2025. Mr. Dolan was represented by Tav Swarat. The State was represented by Jordan Cox, Lucas Pincelli, and Melissa Byars. Tr. 1. The jury found Mr. Dolan guilty as charged and the trial judge sentenced him to twenty-eight years for the trafficking and five-years for the PWID.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Entitlement to a *Franks* hearing is a matter of law subject to de novo review.” *State v. Porch*, 417 S.C. 619, 626, 790 S.E.2d 440, 444 (Ct. App. 2016) (citing *United States v. Tate*, 524 F.3d 449, 455 (4th Cir. 2008)).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 5, 2023, SLED executed a search warrant at Michael Dolan’s residence in Lexington County. (Tr. p. 200, l. 14 – p. 201, l. 6). When law enforcement officers arrived, they blared their sirens and loudly announced their presence. Mr. Dolan exited the residence from the front door to greet them. (Tr. p. 244, l. 1 – p. 245, l. 2). Mr. Dolan was not hostile to the officers, cooperated with their search, and did not try to resist. (Tr. p. 257, ll. 19 – 25).

The officer who prepared the search warrant was Special Agent Alex Gray with SLED and the basis for the search warrant was that law enforcement believed that a “chop shop” was being operated out of Mr. Dolan’s residence. (Court’s Ex. 1 – Search Warrant). During the search, law enforcement forced entry into a shed in the backyard—a shed that turned out to be unlocked. (Tr. p. 207, ll. 14 – 24).

Agent Gray admitted that he did not see any evidence of drugs in the shed when he searched it. (Tr. p. 227, l. 15 – p. 228, l. 1). Agent Gray also testified that he didn’t find any drugs inside of the house either. (Tr. p. 230, ll. 6 – 15). Agent Gray recalled that Mr. Dolan had a security system with cameras at his property and that SLED disabled those cameras before conducting their search. As a result, no video evidence from those cameras was preserved. (Tr. p. 232, l. 16 – p. 233, l. 13).

During SLED’s initial search for evidence of a “chop shop,” Agent Jesse Johnson with SLED claimed that he found “a container in the bathroom of the master suite” which contained “suspected narcotics.” (Tr. p. 250, l. 17 – p. 251, l. 8). Agent Johnson notified Investigator Gietz with Lexington County Sheriff’s Department of this discovery. (Tr. p. 252, ll. 12 – 24).

Investigator Gietz testified that it was his job to “get[] poison off the street.” (Tr. p. 278, ll. 12 – 21). Gietz was also present for the search warrant, ostensibly to look for evidence of a chop shop, and claimed that “marijuana . . . and marijuana paraphernalia” was found. Based on that,

Gietz obtained a second search warrant for Mr. Dolan's property. (Tr. p. 279, l. 21 – p. 280, l. 4). However, the State's expert in drug analysis, Margaret Walker, admitted that she could not determine whether the green plant material seized from Mr. Dolan's residence was marijuana or merely industrial hemp—instead referring to her results as finding “cannabis.” (Tr. p. 390, l. 4 – p. 391, l. 24). Walker admitted that not all cannabis products are illegal in South Carolina and that her analysis, known as “qualitative analysis,” could not determine the percentage of THC present in the cannabis which is necessary to determine whether the cannabis is legal or illegal to possess. (Tr. p. 403, l. 14 – p. 404, l. 9).

Based on the presence of “marijuana,” Lexington County obtained a second search warrant specifically to search for drugs. (Tr. p. 208, ll. 17 – 25). After obtaining the second search warrant, Geitz testified that the officers found “things that would indicate that the manufacturing of marijuana was . . . occurring . . . as well as evidence of the trafficking of methamphetamine.” (Tr. p. 280, ll. 8 – 16). Even though multiple law enforcement officers present for the search were wearing body cameras, Geitz testified that there was no body camera footage from the search that took place after the second search warrant was obtained. There was no footage of the discovery of the drugs. Geitz explained this by testifying that he removed his body camera during the search because “[i]t's cumbersome to wear an outer-worn vest during the execution of a search warrant.” (Tr. p. 347, l. 7 – p. 349, l. 11).

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Mr. Dolan's request for a pretrial hearing pursuant to *Franks v. Delaware* because Mr. Dolan adequately alleged Agent Gray's reckless disregard for the truth and lack of probable cause without the tainted information.

### **Relevant Facts**

#### **Written Motion to Suppress**

Mr. Dolan through counsel filed a pretrial motion to suppress the evidence that was seized from the search of his property. Mot. In the motion, Mr. Dolan's Counsel argued that the search warrant lacked probable cause due to the affiant's reckless disregard for the truth. Mot. at 1. Thus, Counsel asserted that law enforcement's search of Mr. Dolan's property was illegal and requested that the court suppress all evidence seized from that search. Mot. at 1.

First, Counsel argued that SLED Agent Alex Gray had not developed "any nexus between Michael Dolan and Cody Sitton" by the time he applied for the search warrant and therefore acted in reckless disregard for the truth in violation of *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978). Mot. at 5–6. Specifically, Agent Gray had evidence linking a stolen motorcycle to Sitton. But Sitton lived forty miles away from Mr. Dolan's house in Gaston. Mot. at 5. Agent Gray then relied on an anonymous tip that was made to the Lexington County Sheriff's Department that Mr. Dolan operated a "chop shop" at his property in Gaston. And although the Lexington County Sheriff's Department conducted surveillance on Mr. Dolan's property, this occurred well before the traffic stop of Sitton during which the stolen motorcycle was discovered in his possession. Furthermore, Lexington County did not investigate the tip any further, nor did they request assistance from other agencies due to the lack of evidence of criminal activity. Mot. at 5–6.

Even though Agent Gray heard that Sitton went to Mr. Dolan's property after his arrest, nothing in the months-long investigation corroborated the allegation that Mr. Dolan was operating a "chop shop," nor was any evidence discovered that tied Sitton to Mr. Dolan or Mr. Dolan's property. Mot. at 6. Agent Gray's search of the Department of Motor Vehicles records also showed no connection between Sitton and Mr. Dolan. Mot. at 6. Thus, Dolan's Counsel argued that under *Franks v. Delaware*, the search warrant was void and all evidence that was seized from Mr. Dolan's property should be excluded. Mot. at 6–7.

Second, Counsel for Mr. Dolan argued that the good faith exception was inapplicable because the search warrant affidavit failed to supply a sufficient basis for probable cause. Mot. at 7. Because Agent Gray "falsely asserted that Cody Sitton had ties to the address to be searched, mentioning Sitton multiple times in the search warrant affidavit, including mentioning Sitton and Dolan in the same sentence in a portion of the affidavit," Counsel argued that probable cause did not exist. Mot. at 7–8. More specifically, Agent Gray omitted the time frame of the anonymous tips and surveillance of Mr. Dolan's property, the investigation that had already occurred into the "chop shop" allegations in June 2022, and the lack of connection between the stolen motorcycle found on Sitton and evidence connecting Sitton to Mr. Dolan. Mot. at 8. Counsel for Mr. Dolan requested a hearing on his motion to suppress. Mot. at 8.

### **Pretrial Arguments on *Franks* Hearing**

Prior to the start of Mr. Dolan's trial, the trial court asked Counsel to address the motion to suppress. (Tr. p. 55, ll. 16 – 22). Counsel noted that he filed the motion to suppress because of the information in the search warrant affidavit that "was either outright false or at least recklessly included in disregard for the truth." (Tr. p. 55, l. 24 – p. 56, l. 6). As was pointed out in his written

motion, Counsel explained to the judge that the investigation in this case began with a traffic stop of Cody Sitton where Sitton was driving a stolen motorcycle. (Tr. p. 56, l. 7 – p. 58, l. 3).

The traffic stop of Sitton was conducted by Lieutenant Marzol with the Gaston Police Department. Marzol made no mention of Mr. Dolan or Mr. Dolan's property in his report regarding the traffic stop of Sitton. However, Counsel pointed out that the search warrant affidavit indicated that Chief Watkins—the Gaston Chief of Police—advised that Sitton had ties to Mr. Dolan's property. (Tr. p. 58, ll. 13 – 23). Counsel argued that there was no evidence to corroborate that statement and that it was false or made in reckless disregard for the truth. (Tr. p. 58, l. 24 – p. 59, l. 2). Counsel also pointed out that the anonymous tips alleging Mr. Dolan was operating a “chop shop” were from fourteen or fifteen months prior to the search of the property but that fact was omitted from the search warrant affidavit. (Tr. p. 59, ll. 9 – 19).

Counsel further indicated that he had spoken to the magistrate judge who signed the search warrant and that he was present and available to testify. Counsel informed the trial judge that the magistrate would testify that he did not know about the staleness of the information regarding the tips and that if he had known he would not have signed the search warrant. (Tr. p. 59, l. 20 – p. 60, l. 8). According to the magistrate's notes, the officers who sought the search warrant of Mr. Dolan's property also told the magistrate that there were “twenty-five motorcycles connected to gang members . . . that they were investigating, which gave more reliability or credibility toward this investigation; however, that information was not true.” Again, Counsel maintained that the information in the search warrant affidavit was false and that a *Franks* hearing was warranted to determine whether the evidence seized because of the search of Mr. Dolan's property should be suppressed. (Tr. p. 61, l. 24 – p. 62, l. 17). Counsel for Mr. Dolan argued that without any connection between Sitton and Mr. Dolan, there was no probable cause. (Tr. p. 62, ll. 18 – 25).

The trial court wanted “to make sure [it] underst[ood]” and asked, “So your problems with the affidavit on the search warrant pertains to the fact that it was not dated as to Chief Watkins’ anonymous tips regarding a potential chop shop on Mr. Dolan’s property being from 2022?” (Tr. p. 63, ll. 2 – 8). Mr. Dolan’s Counsel agreed, stating that the omission “would have indicated the staleness of the information.” (Tr. p. 63, ll. 14 – 15). Counsel also reiterated that the search warrant incorrectly placed Sitton near Dolan’s property and tied Sitton and Mr. Dolan together in the same paragraph. (Tr. p. 64, ll. 8 – 25).

The State responded with a different timeline, asserting that the beginning of Agent Gray’s investigation into the alleged “chop shop” was in March of 2023, after the traffic stop of Sitton. (Tr. p. 66, ll. 3 – 11). The 2022 information, the State claimed, “played a key part into Agent Gray’s investigation” and helped support “the rest of his probable cause for this search warrant.” (Tr. p. 66, l. 18 – p. 67, l. 3). The State also pointed out that the burden to receive a *Franks* hearing is on the defendant and that he must “make a substantial preliminary showing that the affiant . . . made a knowingly and intentionally false statement or provided a false statement to the magistrate with a reckless disregard for the truth and what’s included in those false statements was necessary for a finding of probable cause.” (Tr. p. 67, ll. 7 – 17). Despite the defendant’s burden, the State said, “what I could tell is that the only false statement that he is alleging that Investigator Gray made was that Cody Sitton had ties to the address to be searched,” but “[t]here’s been nothing that the defense has provided to support that that statement is false.” (Tr. p. 67, l. 21 – p. 68, l. 3).

The trial court asked, “How would you prove a negative in that scenario?” (Tr. p. 69, ll. 1 – 2). The State responded that Mr. Dolan’s Counsel could have gone to Chief Watkins, who made the statement to Agent Gray, since *Franks* applies to the affiant. (Tr. p. 69, ll. 3 – 16). When the trial court asked whether the timing of the information was relevant, the State conceded that it was,

but argued that there was no proof that the anonymous tips came from 2022. (Tr. p. 71, l. 12 – p. 72, l. 2). The State continued, arguing that Mr. Dolan’s Counsel also failed to provide proof that Agent Gray’s statement that Sitton got a ride back to Dolan’s house was false. (Tr. p. 72, ll. 20 – 25). The State claimed that probable cause existed because of false motorcycle identification numbers created by the chop shop, four motorcycles being linked to Dolan’s name and address, Sitton being at the address, and anonymous tips regarding a chop shop operation at Dolan’s home. (Tr. p. 74, ll. 7 – 18).

The trial court stated, “I must admit there’s not much in there to deal with Agent Gray and what his knowledge or information was at the time for corroboration as to whether he knew those statements were false or otherwise had a reason to question them as the affiant to the search warrant.” (Tr. p. 76, ll. 6 – 11). Counsel for Mr. Dolan acknowledged that law enforcement might have had probable cause to obtain a search warrant of *Sitton’s address*, “[b]ut they’re trying to shoehorn this thing into a case about Michael Dolan in order to get on his property and there’s nothing in this entire affidavit that indicates that stolen property is located on Mr. Dolan’s property.” (Tr. p. 76, l. 12 – p. 77, l. 10). When Mr. Dolan’s Counsel looked at the VIN numbers for the motorcycles, “they appear to be different” with Sitton’s stolen motorcycle starting with 4C9PD08 and Dolan’s motorcycle starting with 4CPPB05. (Tr. p. 77, l. 21 – p. 78, l. 3). Also, Counsel for Dolan noted that Sitton’s arrest report never mentioned Mr. Dolan and that Lieutenant Marzol told him that law enforcement never conducted surveillance at Mr. Dolan’s residence. (Tr. p. 78, l. 24 – p. 79, l. 15).

The trial court asked if Mr. Dolan’s Counsel was “saying Agent Gray had a duty to corroborate or otherwise redo an investigation that Chief Watkins did.” (Tr. p. 79, ll. 17 – 20). Mr. Dolan’s Counsel disagreed, instead simply arguing that “it is important for the magistrate to

understand as a judicial officer that this information is from more than a year back from the arrest.” (Tr. p. 80, ll. 1 – 4). The trial court asked how Counsel knew that that’s the only time Chief Watkins got those anonymous tips. (Tr. p. 80, ll. 5 – 7). While Counsel for Mr. Dolan conceded that he did not know any other date and did not know a timeframe, he stated that it appeared that that was the only time an investigation occurred. (Tr. p. 80, ll. 8 – 16).

The State, however, replied that it “would caution the Court, again, and all of us to just assume that the structure of this sentence [in the agent’s report] means that June 2022 was the date that all of this stuff happened.” (Tr. p. 80, ll. 9 – 12). In fact, the State pointed out that the report included multiple dates, and “the only thing locking onto June of 2022 was that the members of the Lexington County Sheriff’s Office told Chief Watkins that they had reason to believe that there was a chop shop.” (Tr. p. 80, l. 13 – p. 81, l. 9). As a result, “to assume that all of this happened within the one conversation or on the same day I don’t think is fair to Agent Gray.” (Tr. p. 82, ll. 13 – 15).

Counsel for Mr. Dolan, however, responded that he did not “think it’s incumbent on the defense to have to investigate what they provide in discovery to prove it’s not true.” (Tr. p. 82, ll. 22 – 24). Counsel also proffered that the magistrate judge would testify that “if he would have known that Sitton had no ties to this property, then the first part of this affidavit has no merit.” (Tr. p. 86, ll. 15 – 19).

The trial court denied the motion to suppress. (Tr. p. 87, ll. 14 – 15). “There’s no indication that Agent Gray had any knowledge of falsehood or potential reckless disregard for the truth.” (Tr. p. 87, ll. 17 – 19). The trial court noted that the standard for a *Franks* hearing was whether the investigating officer made a false statement which would call into question the veracity of the search warrant affidavit. (Tr. p. 87, ll. 20 – p. 88, l. 7). The trial court also found that Mr. Dolan’s

Counsel was correct that the DMV records would not have come into play without Sitton’s arrest, “but I don’t know that his arrest in and of itself is the only factor involved.” (Tr. p. 88, ll. 8 – 14). The trial court noted that it did not have any statements from Chief Watkins regarding whether Dolan was a person of interest in the community. (Tr. p. 88, ll. 16 – 20).

## **Discussion**

### **A. Mr. Dolan was entitled to a *Franks* hearing because he sufficiently alleged that Agent Gray recklessly disregarded the truth and did not include enough information otherwise to establish probable cause.**

The trial court erred in denying Mr. Dolan a *Franks* hearing because he adequately asserted that Agent Gray failed to include an explicit link between Sitton and Mr. Dolan and instead recklessly disregarded the truth by relying on hearsay in his search warrant affidavit. Accordingly, this Court should reverse.

“A search warrant may [be issued] only upon a finding of probable cause,” that an affiant swears is true before a magistrate. *State v. Bellamy*, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348 (1999) (quoting S.C. Code § 17-13-140). Probable cause only exists “if, given the totality of the circumstances, there is a fair probability that . . . evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” *State v. Kinloch*, 410 S.C. 612, 617, 767 S.E.2d 153, 155 (2014).

Although a search warrant affidavit enjoys a presumption of validity, *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 171 (1978), a defendant has the right to challenge the veracity of a warrant affidavit in a *Franks* hearing. *State v. Missouri*, 337 S.C. 548, 553, 524 S.E.2d 394, 396 (1999). Specifically, a defendant can properly challenge an affidavit when it included false information or omitted exculpatory material. *Missouri*, 337 S.C. at 554, 524 S.E.2d at 397.

To mandate a *Franks* hearing, (1) “[t]here must be allegations of deliberate falsehood or reckless disregard for the truth, and those allegations must be accompanied by an order of proof;”

and (2) there is insufficient “content in the warrant affidavit to support a finding of probable cause” without the false or reckless material. *Franks*, 438 U.S. at 171–72. The allegations of falsity only require a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Robinson*, 415 S.C. 600, 606, 785 S.E.2d 355, 358 (2016).

In *State v. Sampson*, a search warrant affidavit stated that a reliable confidential informant told the police officer that drugs were at the defendant’s location. 317 S.C. 423, 425, 454 S.E.2d 721, 722 (Ct. App. 1995). However, the defendant argued in a motion to suppress that the informant had neither seen the drugs nor been inside the defendant’s residence and instead reiterated a comment from someone else who had allegedly spotted the drugs. *Id.* Because the defendant made a sufficient showing of the affiant’s reckless disregard for truth, this Court remanded for a *Franks* hearing. *Id.* at 427, 454 S.E.2d at 723.

More recently in *State v. Trapp*, this Court considered a situation where the defendant asserted that the affiant of the search warrant failed to conclusively establish the timing of the photograph that showed a pill bottle. 420 S.C. 217, 241, 801 S.E.2d 742, 755–56 (Ct. App. 2017). This Court noted that it found “the apparent discrepancies in the photos troublesome” and was “not overly persuaded” by the State’s argument that the photos occurred before the search warrant. *Id.* at 241, 801 S.E.2d at 755. This Court, however, ultimately decided that probable cause existed regardless of the omitted timeline only because the magistrate never viewed the photographs. Accordingly, this Court affirmed the trial court’s denial of a *Franks* hearing. *Id.*

Here, Mr. Dolan met his burden in alleging Agent Gray’s recklessly disregarded the truth in his search warrant affidavit. In his motion to suppress and the subsequent hearing, he specifically argued that a five-month investigation failed to place Sitton at Dolan’s property and that Agent Gray’s DMV search failed to link Sitton and Dolan. (Mot. At 5–6). Indeed, Dolan explicitly stated

that Agent Gray “falsely asserted that Cody Sitton had ties to the address to be searched.” (Mot. at 7–8). In fact, the magistrate who signed the search warrant was present in court and available to testify that this lack of connection would have changed his determination of probable cause. (Tr. p. 86, ll. 15–19).

Moreover, like *Sampson*, Mr. Dolan adequately alleged that Agent Gray did not have personal knowledge of Sitton’s connection to Dolan. Indeed, Dolan asserted that Agent Gray relied on hearsay that Dolan operated a “chop shop” in Gaston and that Sitton went to that property after his arrest. (Mot. at 5–6). Mr. Dolan also credibly argued that Agent Gray did not himself see Sitton go to the property, just like the informant in *Sampson*. Instead, Agent Gray merely reiterated another person’s rumor that Mr. Dolan operated a “chop shop,” just as the affiant in *Sampson* did. Therefore, by highlighting the lack of corroboration and threadbare accusations in the search warrant affidavit, Mr. Dolan established that Agent Gray was at least reckless in his disregard for the truth.

Mr. Dolan also pointed out the problems with Agent Gray’s timeline in the affidavit—namely, that there was not one. Dolan explicitly argued that Agent Gray omitted the time frame of the anonymous tip and surveillance of Dolan’s residence and subsequently failed to include integral information in the search warrant affidavit. (Mot. at 8). Even if the anonymous tips were not from 2022, Dolan noted in the hearing that the lack of a timeline falsely implied that Agent Gray’s findings were recent. (Tr. p. 80, ll. 8–16). Accordingly, Mr. Dolan sufficiently alleged that Agent Gray recklessly disregarded the true timeline of events in his search warrant affidavit.

Furthermore, because this Court has previously expressed its concern over allegations that a search warrant affiant excluded the timeline of information, Dolan’s allegations entitle him to a *Franks* hearing. Like *Trapp*, Mr. Dolan asserted that the search warrant affidavit omitted important

dates. Unlike *Trapp*, however, the magistrate knew of the anonymous tips and investigations and erroneously inferred that the information was not stale. Therefore, this Court has precedential authority to order a *Franks* hearing because Mr. Dolan asserted the omission of important dates.

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