RECEIVED

May 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
Hon. Martha M. Rivers, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001053

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL ANTHONY DOLAN, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main St.
Suite 306
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly denied Dolan's motion for an evidentiary hearing to challenge the veracity of a search warrant affidavit because Dolan failed to make a substantial preliminary showing of an intentionally or recklessly false statement in the affidavit, and probable cause existed even without the alleged false statements.

The trial court correctly refused to conduct a full evidentiary hearing to address Dolan's claim that the affidavit supporting the search warrant for his property contained false statements. Dolan failed to make the required "substantial" showing that the affidavit contained bad faith false statements, and the affidavit supported a finding of probable cause even without the alleged false statements. Specifically, the affidavit detailed DMV records which showed Dolan repeatedly registered motorcycles with false identification numbers. The trial court correctly refused to conduct a full evidentiary hearing. This Court should affirm.

A. Relevant facts.

Dolan was the target of a SLED investigation into a suspected chop shop violation. (R.p.389-91). Dolan operated a motorcycle repair shop and was suspected of criminal activity by the Gaston Police Department, who asked SLED to investigate. SLED Agent Alex Gray conducted the investigation and ultimately obtained a search warrant for Dolan's home and shop. The search of Dolan's property uncovered extensive evidence of a chop shop operation, including numerous stolen vehicles and vehicle parts with altered identification numbers. (R.p.392-94).

In a written pretrial motion and again at a pretrial hearing, Dolan raised the issue of bad faith falsity in the search warrant affidavit. (R.p.5–12). All of the allegedly false statements appear in the first paragraph of the affidavit, in which Agent Gray explained the background of his investigation, including hearsay he received from Gaston Police Chief Watkins. Agent Gray wrote that Chief Watkins told him that he had received “numerous anonymous tips” that Dolan was running a chop shop and asked him to investigate. Chief Watkins told Agent Gray that Gaston police had arrested an individual named Cody Sitton for possessing a stolen motorcycle with an altered VIN number. Chief Watkins told Agent Gray that Sitton “had ties” to Dolan’s property and went to Dolan’s property after his arrest. Dolan disputed the accuracy of this information. He also complained that Agent Gray did not specify that Chief Watkins received anonymous tips the previous year, and that the information was stale. Dolan claimed Agent Gray also gave supplemental oral testimony which was false. (R.p.17–21).

To support his claim, Dolan offered the testimony of the magistrate who issued the search warrant, who would testify that he may have formed a different opinion about probable cause if he had known about the alleged inaccuracies. Dolan also offered to present testimony from the Gaston officer who arrested Cody Sitton, claiming the officer would testify he did not observe Sitton go to Dolan’s property after his arrest. Dolan did not offer affidavits or testimony from Agent Gray or Chief Watkins, the source of the alleged false information.

The trial court denied Dolan's motion for a full evidentiary hearing, ruling Dolan failed to show bad faith false statements and that the warrant affidavit contained sufficient information to support a probable cause finding even without the disputed information. (R.p.46–47). The court pointed to the second paragraph of the warrant affidavit, in which Agent Gray detailed his own investigation into Dolan's shop. As will be discussed further below, Agent Gray discovered DMV records which showed Dolan registered numerous motorcycles with altered VIN numbers and Manufacturer Certificates of Origin (MCOs). The MCOs were "nearly identical" to the false identifiers on Sitton's stolen motorcycle.

B. The Franks standard.

When a defendant makes "a substantial preliminary showing" that a false statement "knowingly and intentionally, or with reckless disregard for the truth," was included by the affiant in a search warrant affidavit, and if the allegedly false statement is necessary to the finding of probable cause, the Fourth Amendment requires that a hearing be held at the defendant's request. Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 155–56 (1978). There is a "presumption of validity" with respect to the affidavit supporting the search warrant. Id. at 171. A party attempting to demonstrate information was intentionally or recklessly omitted from an affidavit bears a heavy burden of proof. State v. Porch, 417 S.C. 619, 627, 790 S.E.2d 440, 444 (Ct. App. 2016). A defendant must do more than "allege" or "argue" certain information was false. Brief of Appellant at 13–15. He must "show" it to be so.

To make the required showing, "affidavits or sworn or otherwise reliable statements of witnesses should be furnished, or their absence satisfactorily

explained.” Franks, 438 U.S. at 171. It is not enough to show an inaccuracy. The defendant must show bad faith by the affiant, and that the probable cause determination depended on the false information. Franks, 438 U.S. at 165 (explaining affidavit must “be ‘truthful’ in the sense that the information put forth is believed or appropriately accepted by the affiant as true”).

C. Dolan failed to make a “substantial preliminary showing” that the warrant affidavit contained bad faith false statements.

In his brief, Dolan argues he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing because the affidavit included two pieces of allegedly false information: 1) that Sitton had ties to Dolan; 2) that, by failing to include a timeline of when Chief Watkins received the anonymous tips, the affidavit “implied” they were recent, but they were not. Brief of Appellant at 14. Dolan asked to take testimony from two witnesses in support of his motion to suppress—the magistrate who issued the warrant and the officer who arrested Sitton, Officer Marzol.

The magistrate’s testimony would have served no purpose. The magistrate had no idea whether any of the statements in the affidavit were false, much less intentionally false. His testimony was offered to show—hypothetically—that if the statements were false, this may have affected his probable cause determination. (R.p.18–19). Dolan wanted to elicit testimony about the magistrate’s “process of evaluation.” (R.p.5–12). This testimony would not have been relevant. Probable cause is judged by an objective standard based on the information in the affidavit, not the subjective testimony of the issuing magistrate. Ornelas v. United States,

517 U.S. 690, 696 (1996). The circuit court properly evaluated probable cause by an objective standard based on the text of the warrant affidavit.

Similarly, Officer Marzol's testimony would not have been material because it related to a peripheral matter: whether Sitton received a ride to Dolan's property from a member of the Warlocks motorcycle club. (R.p.5-12). This information was passed to Agent Gray from Chief Watkins. Dolan did not call Chief Watkins or Agent Gray to testify. Instead, Dolan argued that because Marzol's incident report did not mention Sitton receiving a ride to Dolan's property, it must not have happened. (R.p.17). This logical leap does not prove the information was untrue. The affidavit does not claim Marzol observed Sitton at Dolan's property. It correctly states Chief Watkins told Agent Gray about the incident. Indeed, Agent Gray's report states that Chief Watkins made the observation, not Officer Marzol. (R.p.392-94). Officer Marzol's incident report confirms Chief Watkins responded to the scene. (R.p.395-404). Dolan failed to show this information was false, and failed to call the witness who would have been able to testify about the incident.

Even if the information was false, this would not show bad faith by Agent Gray or undermine the probable cause determination. Dolan complained the information was hearsay, and uncorroborated. (R.p.23). But just because it's hearsay doesn't make it untrue. Search warrant affidavits commonly include hearsay, which is completely proper if the hearsay is reliable or furnishes only part of the probable cause. See Franks, 438 U.S. at 165. Agent Gray plainly acknowledged the information was hearsay, but included it in the affidavit as background information.

He did not mislead the magistrate into believing he had personal knowledge of the event and did not rely on it for probable cause. Cf. Franks, 438 U.S. at 164; United States v. Calisto, 838 F.2d 711, 715 (3d Cir. 1988).

Further, Agent Gray's subsequent investigation confirmed that Sitton did indeed "have ties" to Dolan; they were part of the same scheme to fraudulently rebrand stolen motorcycles, as evidenced by the "nearly identical" fake VINs and MCOs on their motorcycles. (R.p.389–91). Because Agent Gray's investigation corroborated the information about Sitton he received from Chief Watkins, he had no reason to doubt its accuracy. And in any case, a minor inaccuracy like this would not show Agent Gray acted in bad faith by including it in the affidavit. See Rugendorf v. United States, 376 U.S. 528, 532 (1964) ("The factual inaccuracies depended upon by petitioner to destroy probable cause . . . were of only peripheral relevancy to the showing of probable cause, and, not being within the personal knowledge of the affiant, did not go to the integrity of the affidavit.").

As to the staleness of the anonymous tips Chief Watkins received, Dolan alleged Chief Watkins received the tips in June of 2022. Counsel cited Agent Gray's report, which does indeed state that Chief Watkins received a tip from the Lexington County Sheriff's Office in June of 2022. (R.p.392–94). However, the report goes on to state that Chief Watkins then began surveillance on Dolan's property and again states Chief Watkins "received anonymous tips" about chop shop activity occurring at Dolan's property. Thus the report does not show that Chief Watkins only received tips in June of 2022. Rather, it implies that he received tips on multiple

occasions, or as Agent Gray wrote in the affidavit, “numerous” tips. Again, Dolan failed to offer an affidavit or testimony from Chief Watkins, the person with knowledge.

Finally, the search of Dolan’s property confirmed Agent Gray’s suspicions. Police discovered extensive evidence of a chop shop operation, including numerous stolen vehicles and vehicle parts with altered identification numbers. (R.p.392–94). The trial court correctly held Dolan failed to make a “substantial preliminary showing” to support his claim that the affidavit contained bad faith false statements.

D. Probable cause existed even without the alleged false statements.

Dolan also failed to meet the second requirement of Franks: that the false information in the affidavit was necessary to a finding of probable cause. The true probable cause stemmed from Agent Gray’s independent investigation, which documented Dolan’s commission of multiple instances of fraudulent registration of motorcycles with altered VINs or MCOs, not from the background information he received from Gaston police. (R.p.389–91).

The alleged false statements had little, if any, bearing on the probable cause determination. The alleged falsities are contained in the first paragraph of the affidavit, which is background information about the origin of Agent Gray’s investigation. Agent Gray plainly acknowledged the information was hearsay. He included the information to explain the starting point of his investigation and foundational information such as the fact that Dolan was a mechanic who worked on motorcycles. Agent Gray knew from Chief Watkins that Dolan had many

operable and inoperable motorcycles and motorcycle parts on his property. The first paragraph also contains specifics about the fraudulent identification numbers Agent Gray personally observed on Sitton's motorcycle.

The second paragraph is the meat of the affidavit and contains the information which established probable cause. As the trial court noted, "the second paragraph deals with the investigation that Agent Gray did on his own with the analysis of the DMV records Once they looked at those records that is what helped point them to Mr. Dolan." (R.p.47).

Agent Gray explained he discovered Dolan had registered a motorcycle with a false Manufacturer Certificate of Origin (MCO) which was "almost identical" to the false MCO on Sitton's motorcycle. Further, both Sitton's and Dolan's motorcycles had false VIN numbers which were similar to each other. Hence the connection between Dolan and Sitton, which corroborates Chief Watkins's tip that Sitton "had ties" to Dolan's property. Upon further investigation, Agent Gray discovered 24 motorcycles registered with similar false identification numbers, all branded under the name "Chop Boyz Custom," a fake company. (R.p.392-94). Four of the false MCOs had the name "Michael Dolan" on them.

Curiously, Dolan fails to even acknowledge in his brief this key evidence. This was the evidence that supplied the probable cause to search, not the "anonymous tips" or background information about Sitton's arrest. Thus not only did Dolan fail to show any false information in the affidavit, he has failed to address the true

probable cause independent of the alleged false statements—documented fraudulent VIN and MCO numbers on four motorcycles registered to Dolan.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.